ONE CREATURE PER ACRE AND OTHER STORIES OF THE OLD ROCKY HILL MEADOW’s

(This is based on the talk given at the 1987 Annual Meeting of the Great Meadows Conservation Trust.)
The Connecticut River, in its long journey to the sea, has cut through a number of rock ridges to form water gaps such as those at Holyoke and Haddam.  In many cases large basins have been left upstream of these gaps, and these have been filled with alluvium to form the great flood plains in Massachusetts and Connecticut.  Here the river meanders, forming large S-bends, ephemeral islands and oxbow lakes as it changes its course, sometimes slowly, and occasionally rapidly to the discomfort of those who feel that the hills, valleys and streams in New England are everlasting.

In this generally stony land of ours, the flood plain with its fine soil, level ground and good water supply has long been attractive to people.  Archaeological digs have uncovered traces of pre-Columbian occupation going back over a thousand years, and the English adventurers from eastern Massachusetts soon began cultivation in the lowlands in the mid-seventeenth century.

Our local flood plain is known as the Meadows.  A meadow is defined as a grassland, but as we can see in many parts of Wethersfield, Glastonbury and Rocky Hill, the uncultivated flood plain is dominated by brush and trees.  If farming ceased we would have no meadows, only a forest except where it is too wet and swamps prevail. 
In the Rocky Hill Historical Society’s Academy Hall Museum, there is a notebook entitled “Rocky Hill Meadow Record 1847”.  This is a concise account of the doings of the Association of the Proprietors of the meadows from 1849 to 1929.  I have drawn on this and other sources to give some idea of the history of agriculture in the area.

I do not have the details of all the crops that have been grown in the meadows over the years, but corn, grain, potatoes and hay are mentioned in last century’s records.  It is possible that onions, of Wethersfield fame, were also grown here.  These days, corn and hay and beans are raised, and a large area is devoted to growing turf.  Tobacco might once have been grown, but when I discussed this with one farmer, he said that the flood hazard would endanger this crop which is one of the most expensive to raise.  Freshlets can occur any time of the year, for instance snowmelt floods as happened in April of 1987, hurricane inundations as in August of 1955, and of course, just lots of plain untitled rain.  Broom corn was a specialty grown in the Connecticut Valley during the last century, and one report states that 5000 brooms were made in Rocky Hill in 1845.

Rocky Hill was being settled in the 1650’s, and one of the first roads laid out was Meadow Road which runs along the east foot of the hill after which the town is named.  Frequent flooding made it unsuitable for residential purposes, and much of it is now overgrown even though it is still a town road on maps.
Regulating the use of the meadows has been a problem from the earliest days, and we read in the Adams-Stiles “History of Ancient Wethersfield” that in 1691 a meeting of the proprietors of the Great Meadows was held to discuss the control of the opening and closing of the land for pasturing.  This was long before Rocky Hill became a separate parish in the town of Wethersfield, let alone an independent town.  When the new parish, Stepney, was formed in 1722, it did not include any of the meadows, and it was only in 1759 that the mother town finally granted a large section of the fields for its daughter community.  This area was Mile Meadow, presumably because of its great size.  The distance between the Rocky Hill and the Connecticut River is over a mile at its greatest point, and the area is about 1000 acres.
In 1843 Stepney Parish was taken from Wethersfield and incorporated as the town of Rocky Hill.  In 1847 the County Court in Hartford formally divided the floodplain into the Wethersfield Great Meadows and the Rocky Hill Meadows.  The court order also authorized the proprietors in Rocky Hill to form an association to administer rules and regulations concerning the use of the fields.  The order referred to the meadows as being common land although in fact the area was, and still is, divided between many owners.  Most upland farmers owned some land in the flood plain.  According to the Encyclopedia Britannica “commons is a word to describe the rights of persons to enjoy a profit a prendre and more generally to describe the land over which those rights might be enjoyed.”  These rights are those to take from the lands of others part of its produce, or the wild animals on it.  The origin of the principle goes back to medieval England.  Applied to the meadows, the proprietors had the right to pasture animals at certain times of the year on any part of the land regardless of ownership.

The Rocky Hill proprietor’s first meeting took place in March 1849, but as no meetings had taken place in 1847 or 1848 there was some doubt as to the legality of the organization.  This doubt was removed when the General Assembly confirmed the doings of the first meeting of the proprietors.  The association was apparently set up to vote in new officers every year, but many served for a long time.  The first moderator was Benjamin Webb and the clerk was Henry Bulkley.  The governing body was called the Prudential Committee with five members.  Appointed were

five fenceviewers and eight haywards.  The fenceviewers were responsible for seeing that the proprietors kept the boundary fences in good repair: these fences separated the meadows from the uplands and closed off the thousand acres from the rest of the world.  The haywards had nothing much to do with hay.  Their responsibility was to regulate livestock which was admitted to feed in the meadows.  Another name for these men was meadowriders, perhaps the nearest thing` to cowboys in this part of the world.

Horses were not allowed to run at large in the fields.  In this connection, and in particular the 1970’s talk of a racetrack in the Wethersfield Meadows, it is amusing to know that as early as 1684 a law was passed punishing anyone racing a horse within the town plot by a ten shilling fine.

The proprietors’ association, as we might call it, voted every year until 1884 to let cattle and other creatures pasture in the meadows for thirty days beginning about the middle of October at 9 o’clock in the morning of the agreed day.  Grazing had to take place during the day.  However, only animals of the proprietors had any right to pasture, and these creatures had to be marked on the left ear with the owner’s initials.  A list of the animals had to be given to a committee member.  Cattle illegally driven into the meadows were liable to be impounded by the haywards for which duty they were to be paid fifty cents, a like sum to be paid by the owner as a fine.  Some difficulties with impounding must have taken place because in 1850 it was voted to save the haywards harmless from expenses due to impounding the creatures.  There are occasional mentions of raising money to pay for lawsuits.

The proprietors’ association taxed its members to pay the fenceviewers and others for maintaining the fences, and apparently voted that the fences be rebuilt every five to ten years.  In 1856 a tax of 5 cents on the dollar on the grand list value of the holdings was raised.

The number of animals each landowner was allowed to graze was regulated according to a formula based on sound ecological principles.  It depended on the size and character of the landowner’s property, and changed over the years.  A typical formula was:

         One creature to one acre of grassland.

         One creature to two acres of swamp, wood stalk or grain land.

        One creature per three acres of potatoes.

So if one owner had twelve acres of grassland, he could pasture twelve animals, if he owned swamp land he could pasture six, and on potato land only four.  Here is a quotation from the records:

NOTICE

Is hereby given to proprietors of the Rocky Hill Meadows.  that the same will be opened for feeding of neat cattle only on the 15th day of October 1861 at 10 o’clock A.M. and to remain open for that purpose. Thirty days.  All creatures that are found running at large in said meadow will be liable to be impounded unless a list of same is left with the committee with the initials of the owner’s name marked on the left hip, and the night on which the same is turned in on whether it be the owner’s or otherwise, there will be allowed to the proprietors one creature to one acre of Grass land, one to ten acres of stalk, one to Four Acres of Potato and Wood Land.
Rocky Hill Oct. 1, 1861

       William A. Haven

       Abro Griswold     Committee

       Horace Adams

A newspaper clipping of 1913 notes that many of the older residents remembered well, how, late in the fall the meadows were opened for pasturage and hundreds of cattle were turned loose in this vast field of considerably over 1000 acres, and the trying times some of the owners had in rounding up the cattle at night.  The comment is made that the town must have presented somewhat of a western atmosphere with so many men going to pasture on horseback.
It is understandable that a fine of $1 was imposed on anyone leaving a meadow gate open.

The Connecticut Valley Railroad began service in 1871, and fencing became even more of a problem.  In that year, the proprietors’ association voted to force its members to repair their fences stating “whereas there is a manifest danger that cattle may stray from said field and be destroyed or injured on the railroad.”  In any case, by 1884 it was voted not to permit cattle into the meadows in the fall, and this vote was repeated for many years thereafter.  By 1894 the prudential committee was voted to serve as haywards indicating relatively little need for the old time meadow riders to look after the cattle.

The proprietors’ meetings used to be well attended, and until 1890 took place in the vestibule of the Rocky Hill Congregational Church.  In 1895 it was voted to hold the meetings at the most convenient place such as one of the local stores.

Apart from the difficulties of making the individual proprietors maintain fences and follow the rules of the meadows, the association had a continuous struggle with the town selectmen over the care of the roads which were technically the responsibility of the town.  A typical resolution, such as this one in 1902, reads as follows:-

        The following resolution was offered by Mr. Leslie Adams and voted on by interests.

Whereas:

        The general statutes provide that Every Town shall put their highways in good and passable condition for public travail.

VOTED

                     That the Prudential

Committee of the proprietors of the Rocky Hill Meadows be and are hereby instructed to take all necessary measures to cause the highways in said Rocky Hill Meadows to be put in good and passable condition on or before June 15, 1901 subject to the approval of said Committee.

Yeas 106                    nays 00

Vote

                        That should said highways not be in good and passable condition by June 15, 1901.  The said Prudential Committee are hereby authorized to apply to the County Commissioner of Hartford County to take proper action concerning said highways.

Yeas 106                   Nays 0

Voted:

      That the Prudential Committee of the proprietors of the Rocky Hill Meadows be and are hereby instructed to cause the approaches to the tracks of the Railroad Crossing) (NYNH&H Valley Division) between land owned by Martin Whales and Acorn R. Havens, be so widened and graded that two loaded teams can pass each other.  said road to be in good and passable condition.
Yeas 106                      Nays 00

Voted:

       That the Clerk of this meeting be instructed to send a copy of the above votes to the Board of Selectmen of the Town of Rocky Hill at once.

Even as late as 1926 a committee was appointed to wait on the selectmen in regard to repairing the Meadow road.
Gradually, interest in the proprietors association declined, probably as a result of the continuing annual decision not to allow animals to pasture.  The need for haywards and fenceviewers evaporated, and the only function left for the group was to complain occasionally to the selectmen about the roads and bridges.  In 1902, no annual meeting was held because of the neglect to post notice of the meeting.  From that year to the last report in 1929 well over half the meetings were not held because a quorum was not present.  In some cases only the clerk showed up.

Although the association died out, the landowners nowadays do work with the town to control vandalism and illegal dumping in the meadows.  Cooperation with the Rocky Hill Fish and Game Club ensure regulation of hunting in the area.
There are over 100 parcels of land in the meadows and these are owned or rented by over 50 parties.  As the plots are not fenced in, and markers are absent or difficult to find, the boundaries can, in many cases, be gauged only by the difference in vegetation and types of crops planted.  Some unintentional tresspass occurs in plowing, and some of the gravel roads disappear to become fields.  South Meadow Lane abutting our Methodist Church parcel has vanished since the Trust acquired the land.
Although the number of farms in the town has fallen dramatically in the past decades, the meadows continue to be of vital importance to farmers in Rocky Hill and neighboring towns.  So in 1987, the Rocky Hill Meadows have a history of over 300 years of continuous agricultural use by the 1650 settlers and their successors.  We hope that 300 years hence the flood plain will still be green with crops and unspoilt woods, swamps and river banks.
         __________________
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